
0895.0008: 1115299 
 

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING & AGENDA OF  
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY 

Thursday, April 15, 2021 
1:00 p.m. 

 
Due to Executive Orders issued by Governor Polis and Public Health Orders implementing the 

Executive Orders issued by the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment, and the threat 
posed by the COVID-19 coronavirus, public attendance will be via teleconferencing. The meeting 

can be joined through the directions below: 
 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/7636703470 
Meeting ID: 763 670 3470 

Call In Number: 1-720-707-2699 
 

Board of Directors, Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority  
John Mick, President    Designee for District Nos. 3, 5 and 6 
Jason Kvols, Secretary    Designee for District Nos. 2, 4 and 8 
Lee Merritt, Treasurer      Designee for District No. 7 

 
 

1. ADMINISTRATIVE MATTERS 
a. Call to Order/ Declaration of Quorum/Excusal of Absences if any 
b. Reaffirmation of Disclosures of Potential or Existing Conflicts of Interest 
c. Approval of Agenda 

 
2. PUBLIC COMMENT (Items not on the Agenda; Comments limited to three minutes per person) 

 
3. CONSENT AGENDA ITEMS (These items are considered to be routine and will be approved by one 

motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items unless requested, in which event, the 
item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and considered in the Regular Agenda.  Enclosures 
included in electronic packets; hard copies available upon request.) 
a. Approval of Minutes from April 8, 2021 Joint Special Meeting of the Mayberry Colorado 

Springs Metropolitan District Nos. 1-8 and Mayberry Colorado Springs Community Authority 
Board (enclosure) 

b. Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Centennial Land Survey for Survey and 
Construction Staking Services (to be distributed) 

c. Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Kumar & Associates for Materials Testing 
Services (to be distributed) 

d. Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Raw Land Detailing for Stormwater 
Compliance Reporting Services (to be distributed) 

e. Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Bailey Land Solutions for Stormwater 
Control Measures and Miscellaneous Site Work Services (to be distributed) 

f. Ratify Independent Contractor Agreement for Project Management Services     with 
Development Services Inc. (Enclosure). 
 

4. LEGAL MATTERS 
a. Consider approval of Cost Share Agreement with Mayberry Communities, LLC for Construction 

Staking, Materials Testing, Stormwater Compliance, and Storm Water Control Projects (to be 
distributed) 

 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/7636703470


Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
April 15, 2021 Special Meeting Agenda 
Page 2 of 2 
 

0895.0008: 1115299 

5. FINANCIAL MATTERS 
a. Review and consider payment of claims (to be distributed) 
b. Discuss Status of Issuance of 2021 Bonds 

i. Limited General Obligation Bonds 
ii. Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds 

 
6. DEVELOPMENT, ASSET, AND WATER MATTERS 

 
7. OTHER BUSINESS  

Next Regular Meeting – November 11, 2021 
  

8. ADJOURNMENT 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 1 
 

 MINUTES OF A  
 

JOINT SPEICAL MEETING OF THE BOARDS OF 
DIRECTORS 

 
 OF THE 
 
 MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY 

AUTHORITY BOARD 
 
 AND 
 

MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT NOS. 1 - 8 

 
 Held: Thursday, April 8, 2021 at 10:00 A.M. 
 

Due to Executive Orders issued by Governor Polis and Public 
Health Orders implementing the Executive Orders, issued by the 
Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment 
(CDPHE), and the threat posed by the COVID-19 coronavirus, 
the meeting was held via teleconference. 

 
ATTENDANCE The meeting was held in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Colorado. The following directors were in attendance: 
 

Johnn Mick, President 
Jason Kvols, Secretary 
Lee Merritt, Treasurer 

 
Also present were: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq., White Bear 
Ankele Tanaka & Waldron, Attorneys at Law, District General 
Counsel; AJ Beckman, Public Alliance, LLC, District Manager; 
Carrie Bartow, CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP, District Accountant; 
Kamille Curylo, Esq. and Tanya Lawless, Esq., Kutak Rock, 
LLP, Bond Counsel; Ethan Anderson, Esq., Ballard Spahr, LLP, 
Disclosure Counsel; Sam Hartman and Iyal Preiss, D.A. 
Davidson & Co., Underwriter; Matt Ruhland, Esq., Special 
Counsel to District Nos. 2 and 3, Collins, Cockrel & Cole; Nick 
Taylor and Stephanie Chichester, North Slope Capital Advisors, 
Municipal Advisor, Johnathan Fernandez, UMB Bank, Trustee,  
Al Watson, Development Services, Inc., Project Manager, and 
Randy Goodson, Foley Development 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE 
MATTERS 
 

 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 2 
 

Call to Order  The meeting was called to order. 
  
Declaration of Quorum and 
Confirmation of Director 
Qualifications 
 

Mr. Beckman noted that a quorum of the Boards was present.  

Reaffirmation of Disclosures of 
Potential or Existing Conflicts of 
Interest 

Ms. Tanaka advised the Boards that, pursuant to Colorado law, 
certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official 
action at the meeting.  Ms. Tanaka reported that disclosures for 
those directors with potential or existing conflicts of interest 
were filed with the Secretary of State’s Office and the Boards at 
least 72 hours prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado 
law, and those disclosures were acknowledged by the Boards.  
Ms. Tanaka noted that a quorum was present and inquired into 
whether members of the Boards had any additional disclosures 
of potential or existing conflicts of interest with regard to any 
matters scheduled for discussion at the meeting. No additional 
disclosures were noted. The Boards determined that the 
participation of the members present was necessary to obtain a 
quorum or to otherwise enable the Boards to act.   
 

Combined Meetings The Authority and the Districts are meeting in a combined Board 
meeting.  Unless otherwise noted below, the matters set forth 
below shall be deemed to be the actions of the Authority and the 
Mayberry, Colorado Springs Metropolitan District Nos. 1-8, 
inclusive, collectively.  
 

Approval of Agenda Mr. Beckman presented the Boards with the proposed agenda for 
the meeting. Upon motion of Director Merritt seconded by 
Director Kvols the Boards unanimously approved the agenda as 
amended. 
 

PUBLIC COMMENT None. 
  

CONSENT AGENDA 
 

The Boards were presented with the consent agenda items.  Mr. 
Beckman noted that there is no Claims List available for 
approval, and Items 3.c. to Approve Payment of Claims for the 
Period Ending April 8, 2021 is therefore removed.  Director 
Kvols requested that Item 3.f. Approval of First Amendment to 
2010 -2015 Operations Funding Agreement be removed and 
considered separately following discussion. Upon motion of 
Director Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, the Boards 
unanimously approved the removal of Consent Agenda items 
3.c. and 3.f., and took the following actions: 

• Approved Minutes from March 10, 2021 Joint Special 
Meeting of the Mayberry Colorado Springs Metropolitan 
District Nos. 1-8 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 3 
 

• Approved Minutes from March 29, 2021 Joint Special 
Meeting of the Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority and Mayberry Colorado Springs Metropolitan 
District Nos. 2 and 3 

• Approved Funding and Reimbursement Agreements for 
Operations and Maintenance with Mayberry 
Communities, LLC and Mayberry Colorado Springs 
Metropolitan District Nos. 1 - 8 

• Approved Intergovernmental Agreement Regarding 
Payment of Reimbursements for Capital Expenses 
between Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority (the “Authority”) and Mayberry, Colorado 
Springs Metropolitan District No. 1 (“District No.1”) 

• Approved First Amendment to 2010-2015 Operations 
Funding Agreement between District No. 1 and Agland 
Investment Company, LLC 

• Ratified Engagement of Collins, Cockrel & Cole, P.C. as 
Special Counsel to District No. 1 for Intergovernmental 
Agreement Regarding Funding of Capital Expenses 
between the Authority and District No. 1 

• Approved Public Improvements Acquisition and 
Reimbursement Agreement with District No. 1 and 
Ellicott Utilities Company  

• Approved Funding and Reimbursement Agreement with 
District No. 1 and Ellicott Utilities Company 

• Approved Public Improvements Acquisition and 
Reimbursement Agreement) with District No. 1 and Bob 
and Carol Mick Trust  

• Approved Funding and Reimbursement Agreement 
(Operations and Maintenance) with District No. 1 Bob 
and Carol Mick Trust 

• Approved of Transaction Based Informed Consent to 
Representation Mayberry Colorado Springs Metropolitan 
District Nos. 2 and 3 regarding capital pledge agreements 
and associated agreements related to the issuance by the 
Authority of its Series 2021 A Bonds and Series 2021B 
Bonds 

• Approved Transaction Based Informed Consent to 
Representation regarding entering into an 
intergovernmental agreement for reimbursement of 
capital expenses  

• Approved Transaction Based Informed Consent to 
Representation regarding entering into an establishment 
agreement to create an authority 

 
 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 4 
 

First Amendment to 2010 – 
2015 Operations Funding 
Agreement with District No. 1 
and Agland Investment 
Company, LLC 

Director Kvols requested that the terms of repayment noted in 
the agreement be further reviewed to be sure all parties fully 
understand the impacts to the overall mill levy. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick and upon vote unanimously 
carried the Board approved the First Amendment to 2010 – 2015 
Operations Funding Agreement with District No. 1 and Agland 
Investment Company, LLC subject to final approval by Agland 
Investment Company, LLC and Mayberry Communities, LLC. 

  
LEGAL MATTERS  
  
District No. 1, Public Hearing 
Regarding Inclusion of 
Property and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution No. 
2021-04-01: Resolution and 
Order for Inclusion of 
Property (Colorado Springs 
Mayberry Inc., Property, 
Approximately 476.91 Acres 

Director Mick opened the public hearing regarding the inclusion 
of approximated 476.91 acres of property owned by Colorado 
Springs Mayberry Inc. into District No. 1 and to consider the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2021-04-01: Resolution and Order 
for Inclusion of Property (Colorado Springs Mayberry Inc., 
Property, Approximately 476.91 Acres. Ms. Tanaka reported 
that notice of the public hearing was provided in accordance 
with Colorado law and no objections were received prior to the 
hearing. There being no public comment, the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-04-01. 
 

District No. 2, Public Hearing 
Regarding Inclusion of 
Property and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution No. 
2021-04-02: Resolution and 
Order for Inclusion of 
Property (Colorado Springs 
Mayberry Inc., Property, 
Approximately 0.80 Acres 

Director Mick opened the public hearing regarding the inclusion 
of approximated 0.80 acres of property owned by Colorado 
Springs Mayberry Inc. into District No. 2 and to consider the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2021-04-02: Resolution and Order 
for Inclusion of Property (Colorado Springs Mayberry Inc., 
Property, Approximately 0.80 Acres. Ms. Tanaka reported that 
notice of the public hearing was provided in accordance with 
Colorado law and no objections were received prior to the 
hearing. There being no public comment, the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-04-02. 
 

District No. 2, Public Hearing 
Regarding Exclusion of 
Property and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution No. 

Director Mick opened the public hearing regarding the exclusion 
of approximated 5.34 acres of property owned by Colorado 
Springs Mayberry Inc. from District No. 2 and to consider the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2021-04-03: Resolution and Order 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 5 
 

2021-04-03: Resolution and 
Order for Exclusion of 
Property (Colorado Springs 
Mayberry Inc., Property, 
Approximately 5.34 Acres 

for Exclusion of Property (Colorado Springs Mayberry Inc., 
Property, Approximately 5.34 Acres. Ms. Tanaka reported that 
notice of the public hearing was provided in accordance with 
Colorado law and no objections were received prior to the 
hearing. There being no public comment, the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-04-03. 
 

District No. 3, Public Hearing 
Regarding Inclusion of 
Property and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution No. 
2021-04-04: Resolution and 
Order for Inclusion of 
Property (Colorado Springs 
Mayberry Inc., Property, 
Approximately 147.02 Acres 

Director Mick opened the public hearing regarding the inclusion 
of approximated 147.02 acres of property owned by Colorado 
Springs Mayberry Inc. into District No. 3 and to consider the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2021-04-04: Resolution and Order 
for Inclusion of Property (Colorado Springs Mayberry Inc., 
Property, Approximately 147.02 Acres. Ms. Tanaka reported 
that notice of the public hearing was provided in accordance 
with Colorado law and no objections were received prior to the 
hearing. There being no public comment, the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-04-04. 
 

District No. 3, Public Hearing 
Regarding Exclusion of 
Property and Consider 
Adoption of Resolution No. 
2021-04-05: Resolution and 
Order for Exclusion of 
Property (Colorado Springs 
Mayberry Inc., Property, 
Approximately 1.87 Acres 

Director Mick opened the public hearing regarding the exclusion 
of approximated 1.87 acres of property owned by Colorado 
Springs Mayberry Inc. from District No. 3 and to consider the 
adoption of Resolution No. 2021-04-05: Resolution and Order 
for Exclusion of Property (Colorado Springs Mayberry Inc., 
Property, Approximately 1.87 Acres. Ms. Tanaka reported that 
notice of the public hearing was provided in accordance with 
Colorado law and no objections were received prior to the 
hearing. There being no public comment, the hearing was 
closed. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion duly made by Director 
Kvols, seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board adopted Resolution No. 2021-04-05. 
 

FINANCIAL MATTERS  
  
District No. 1, Public Hearing 
on 2020 Budget Amendment 
and Adoption of Resolution 
No. 2021-04-06 Amending 

Director Mick opened the public hearing on the 2020 budget 
amendment. Mr. Beckman reported that notice of the public 
hearing was provided in accordance with Colorado law and no 
objections were received prior to the hearing.  There being no 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 6 
 

the 2020 Budget  
 

public comment, the hearing was closed. 
 
Upon motion, duly made by Director Kvols seconded by 
Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously carried, the Board 
unanimously approved the budget amendment and adopted 
Resolution No. 2021-04-06 to Amend the 2020 Budget. 

  
District No. 2, Public Hearing 
on 2021 Budget Amendment 
and Adoption of Resolution 
No. 2021-04-07 to Amend the 
2021 Budget 
 

Director Mick opened the public hearing on the 2021 budget. 
Mr. Beckman reported that notice of the public hearing was 
provided in accordance with Colorado law and no objections 
were received prior to the hearing. There being no public 
comment, the hearing was closed. 
 
Upon motion, duly made by Director Kvols seconded by 
Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously carried, the Board 
unanimously approved the budget and adopted Resolution No. 
2021-04-07 to Amend the Budget. 

  
District No. 3, Public Hearing 
on 2021 Budget Amendment 
and Adoption of Resolution 
No. 2021-04-08 to Amend the 
2021 Budget 
 

Director Mick opened the public hearing on the 2021 budget. 
Mr. Beckman reported that notice of the public hearing was 
provided in accordance with Colorado law and no objections 
were received prior to the hearing. There being no public 
comment, the hearing was closed. 
 
It was noted that it will not be necessary to amend the Budget for 
District No. 3 at this time.  No action was taken. 

  
Authority, Public Hearing on 
2021 Budget Amendment and 
Adoption of Resolution No. 
2021-04-09 to Amend the 
2021 Budget 
 

Director Mick opened the public hearing on the 2021 budget. 
Mr. Beckman reported that notice of the public hearing was 
provided in accordance with Colorado law and no objections 
were received prior to the hearing. There being no public 
comment, the hearing was closed. 
 
Upon motion, duly made by Director Kvols seconded by 
Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously carried, the Board 
unanimously approved the budget and adopted Resolution No. 
2021-04-09 to Amend the Budget. 

  
Status of Issuance of 2021 
Bonds 

Mr. Hartman reported that the consultants working on the bond 
issuance are working toward posting the PLOM by the end of 
the week. 

  
DEVELOPMENT, 
ASSETT, AND WATER 
MATTERS 

 

  
Consider Award of Phase 1 Ms. Tanaka advised the Board that any award of contract must 



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 7 
 

Overlot Grading Project 
(Authority).  

be contingent upon the approval of the Cost Share Agreement 
with Mayberry Communities, LLC for Earthwork, in order to 
segregate the private and public portions of the earthwork to 
ensure that the Authority is funding only the public portions.  
Further, the agreement will require that funding for the work is 
provided by the developer under the existing Public 
Infrastructure Advance and Reimbursement Agreement with 
Mayberry Communities, LLC due to no bond proceeds being 
available at this time. She then explained that the contract for the 
work will include disclosure to the contractor that the project is 
being funded by the developer. 
 
Mr. Watson reviewed the bid tabulation with the Board and 
recommended engagement of Dwyer Earthmoving, LLC for the 
Phase I Overlot Grading Project in the amount of $468,207.50 
 
Following discussion, upon motion, duly made by Director 
Kvols seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board unanimously approved engagement of Dwyer 
Earthmoving, LLC for the Phase I Overlot Grading Project in the 
amount of $468,207.50, subject to approval of the Cost Share 
Agreement with Mayberry Communities, LLC for Earthwork 
Project. 

  
Authority, Cost Share 
Agreement with Mayberry 
Communities, LLC for 
Earthwork Project 

Ms. Tanaka reviewed the agreement with the Board. Mr. Watson 
noted that exhibits to the agreement are in process and are 
expected to be complete within the next few days. 
 
Following discussion, upon motion, duly made by Director 
Kvols seconded by Director Mick, and upon vote unanimously 
carried, the Board unanimously approved the Cost Share 
Agreement with the Authority and Mayberry Communities, LLC 
for Earthwork Project subject to completion and final review by 
counsel. 

  
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

None. 

Next Joint Regular Meeting The next joint regular meeting is scheduled for November 11, 
2021, at 9:00 A.M. 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
 

There being no further business to come before the Boards, upon 
motion, second and unanimous vote, the meeting was adjourned.   
   
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the above-referenced meeting. 
 

          



 

2303/2137/2265.0006; 1117608  P a g e  | 8 
 

Secretary for the Authority and District Nos. 1 - 8 
 



2303.4206; 1118033 
 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(LAND SURVEYING SERVICES) 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 15th day of April, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and 
CENTENNIAL LAND SURVEYING, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the 
“Contractor”).  The Authority and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” 
and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

  TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

2 

express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

3 

Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 
experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

4 

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

c. Developer Advances.  Contractor hereby acknowledges that availability of 
funding for the Services is subject to funding advances made by Mayberry Communities, LLC (the 
“Developer”) under that Cost Sharing Agreement (Stormwater Project) dated April 15, 2021, for 
the private portions of the Services and the Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement 
Agreement dated March 17, 2021, for the public portion portions of the Services. It is an express 
condition precedent of the Owner’s obligation to pay the Contractor under this Agreement that 
Developer advances are first available to the Owner. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

5 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

6 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

7 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

8 

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 
the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

9 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

10 

other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com  

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

11 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

  
Contractor: Centennial Land Surveying, LLC 

16115 Northcliff Square 
Elbert, CO 80106 
Attention: Michael J. Muirheid 
Phone: (719) 492-6540 
Email: __________________ 
 

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com


 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

12 

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 
 

13 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202 et seq., 
C.R.S.   

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the Authority, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.]



Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Land Surveying 
Services with Centennial Land Surveying, LLC, dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4206; 1118033 14 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Land Surveying 
Services with Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority, dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4206; 1118033 15 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
CENTENNIAL LAND SURVEYING, LLC a 
Colorado limited liability company 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2021, by __________________, as the _________________ of Centennial Land Surveying, LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



2303.4206; 1118033 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 



 

16115 Northcliff sq., Elbert, CO 80106     (719) 492-6540 
www.centenniallandsurveying.com 

 

 

Development Services, Inc. 
P.O. Box 50822 
Colorado Springs, CO 80919 
Attention Al Watson  
            March 5, 2021 
 
 
RE: Proposal for Professional Land Surveying Services for Mayberry Colorado Springs Filing 1 and Filing 2 
 
Centennial Land Surveying is pleased to provide you with a cost estimate to provide construction staking. 
Scope for Construction Survey Staking: 

1. Verify existing horizontal and vertical survey control and set additional control as needed. 
2. Stake limits of construction on 100-ft intervals for silt fence. 
3. Stake over-lot grading on 50-ft. grid Curb and Gutter on 50-ft. intervals. 
4. Slope Stake sediment basins and ditch alignments. 
5. Stake sanitary sewer main on 25-ft intervals to include sanitary sewer mh’s. 
6. Stake water line on 25-ft. intervals to include all bends, tees, valves and fire hydrants. 
7. Stake sanitary sewer and water service stubs for lots 1 – 98, lots 1 -3. 
8. Stake temporary front lot corners for viewing/services for lots 1 – 98, lots 1 - 3. 
9. Stake temporary rear lot corners with grades for lots 1 – 98, lots 1 - 3. 
10. Stake storm sewer on 25-ft. intervals to include inlets and manholes. 
11. Stake curb and gutter on 25-ft intervals with calls to top back of curb. 
12. Stake edge of temporary gravel access road. 
13. Stake detached side walk on 25-ft intervals. 
14. Set final permanent property corners with 18” no.5 rebar and plastic surveyors cap PLS 37909. 

 
 
Estimated fee for above listed items:        $57,000.00 
Notes: 
 

1. A minimum of 48 hours of notice shall be given to Centennial Land Surveying by contractor for any required staking. 
2. Client shall provide Centennial Land Surveying with the latest Auto-CAD files for use of calculations. 
3. Any additional item staking and or re-staking will be billed out at an hourly rate of $135.00 per hour. 

 
 
Invoicing: 
Centennial Land Surveying invoices through the last Saturday of the month.  Invoices will be emailed to the appropriate personnel 
on the following Monday and shall be paid within 30 days. 
 
 

 

_____________________________      ____________________________ 

Michael J. Muirheid, (Centennial Land Surveying)      General Contractor 



2303.4206; 1118033 B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

5. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



2303.4206; 1118033 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  



 
 

2303.4206; 1118033 D- 2 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the 

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s Web site is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s Web site, http://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the certificate’s 
confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate is merely 

optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our Web site, http://

www.sos.state.co.us/ click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

Centennial Land Surveying, LLC

Limited Liability Company

20121537889

04/13/2021
04/14/2021 13:55:35

04/14/2021 13:55:35
13096874

09/26/2012



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(CONSTRUCTION MATERIALS TESTING SERVICES) 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 15th day of April, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and KUMAR AND 
ASSOCIATES, INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The Authority and the 
Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

  TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

2 

the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 
Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

3 

experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

4 

Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

c. Developer Advances.  Contractor hereby acknowledges that availability of 
funding for the Services is subject to funding advances made by Mayberry Communities, LLC (the 
“Developer”) under that Cost Sharing Agreement (Stormwater Project) dated April 15, 2021, for 
the private portions of the Services and the Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement 
Agreement dated March 17, 2021, for the public portion portions of the Services. It is an express 
condition precedent of the Owner’s obligation to pay the Contractor under this Agreement that 
Developer advances are first available to the Owner. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

5 

or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

6 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

7 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

8 

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 
the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

9 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

10 

other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com  

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

11 

Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

  
Contractor: Kumar & Associates, Inc. 

6735 Kumar Heights 
Colorado Springs, CO 80918 
Attention: Brandon Barker 
Phone: (719) 632-7009 
Email: kacolospgs@kumarusa.com  
  

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com
mailto:kacolospgs@kumarusa.com


 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

12 

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 
 

13 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202 et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the Authority, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.]



 
 

Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Construction Material 
Testing Services with Kumar & Associates, Inc., dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4205; 1118030 14 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 



 
 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Construction Material 
Testing Services with Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority, dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4205; 1118030 15 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
KUMAR & ASSOCIATES, INC., a Colorado 
corporation 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2021, by __________________, as the _________________ of Kumar & Associates, Inc. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 











 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

5. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  



 
 

2303.4205; 1118030 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the 

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s Web site is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s Web site, http://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the certificate’s 
confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate is merely 

optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our Web site, http://

www.sos.state.co.us/ click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

KUMAR AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

Corporation

19891024374

04/13/2021
04/14/2021 15:38:01

04/14/2021 15:38:01
13097428

03/23/1989



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(STORMWATER INSPECTION SERVICES) 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 15th day of April, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and RAW LAND 
DETAILING, INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”). The Authority and the Contractor 
are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

  TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

2 

the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 
Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

3 

experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

4 

Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

c. Developer Advances.  Contractor hereby acknowledges that availability of 
funding for the Services is subject to funding advances made by Mayberry Communities, LLC (the 
“Developer”) under that Cost Sharing Agreement (Stormwater Project) dated April 15, 2021, for 
the private portions of the Services and the Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement 
Agreement dated March 17, 2021, for the public portion portions of the Services. It is an express 
condition precedent of the Owner’s obligation to pay the Contractor under this Agreement that 
Developer advances are first available to the Owner. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

5 

or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

6 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

7 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

8 

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 
the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

9 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

10 

other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com  

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

11 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

  
Contractor: Raw Land Detailing, Inc. 

10475 Accipiter Drive 
Peyton, CO  80831 
Attention: Larry D Lee 
Phone: (719) 661- 4499 
Email: larry@rawlanddetailing.com   
 

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com
mailto:larry@rawlanddetailing.com


 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

12 

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 
 

13 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202 et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the Authority, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.]



 
 

Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Stormwater Inspection 
Services with Raw Land Detailing, Inc., dated April 15, 2021 

   
2303.4207; 1118034 14 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 



 
 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Stormwater Inspection 
Services with Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority, dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4207; 1118034 15 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
RAW LAND DETAILING, INC., a Colorado 
corporation 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2021, by __________________, as the _________________ of Raw Land Detailing, Inc. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 
Proposal: Red Rock Point1 at Kissing Camels 
 
Stormwater Inspections, 7day frequency....450.00 per month 
Prepare CSWMP...................1,000.00, if needed 
Amended existing CSWMP....500.00, if needed 
CEOS submittal to state...75.00 each



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 B-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

5. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  



 
 

2303.4207; 1118034 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the 

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s Web site is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s Web site, http://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the certificate’s 
confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate is merely 

optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our Web site, http://

www.sos.state.co.us/ click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

RAW LAND DETAILING, INC.

Corporation

20001066506

04/13/2021
04/14/2021 13:56:33

04/14/2021 13:56:33
13096881

04/01/2000



2303.4204; 1118014 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(DRAINAGE AND STORMWATER MANAGEMENT SERVICES) 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 15th day of April, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and BAILEY 
LAND SOLUTIONS, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The 
Authority and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as 
the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 10, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the Authority.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

2 

express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this 
Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or 
authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

3 

Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 
experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find 
that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, 
at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

4 

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

c. Developer Advances.  Contractor hereby acknowledges that availability of 
funding for the Services is subject to funding advances made by Mayberry Communities, LLC (the 
“Developer”) under that Cost Sharing Agreement (Stormwater Project) dated April 15, 2021, for 
the private portions of the Services and the Public Improvements Acquisition and Reimbursement 
Agreement dated March 17, 2021, for the public portion portions of the Services. It is an express 
condition precedent of the Owner’s obligation to pay the Contractor under this Agreement that 
Developer advances are first available to the Owner.   

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

5 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 
coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

6 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

7 

liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the Authority and 
given to the Contractor by the Authority, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority deems confidential, 
or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the Authority.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the Authority; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the Authority’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority 
and the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the Authority shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the Authority may disclosure Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

8 

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 
the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the 
“Authority Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, 
actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in 
whole or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or 
tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or 
employees, in connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services 
or work pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise 
to the contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the 
negligence of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the 
Contractor.  Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will 
not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or 
benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other 
employee benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for 
special/consequential or punitive damages. 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

9 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement.  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

10 

other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 
this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com  

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com


 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

11 

Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

  
Contractor: Bailey Land Solutions, LLC 

2682 Delta Drive 
Colorado Springs, CO 80910 
Attention: Kacey Betts 
Phone: (719) 659-3687 
Email: kaceybaileylandsolutions@gmail.com  
 

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com
mailto:kaceybaileylandsolutions@gmail.com


 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

12 

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

13 

intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202 et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY AND PERMITS.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement 
guarantee and warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or 
performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good 
quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further 
warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations of any 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  All materials are subject to the 
satisfaction and acceptance of the Authority, but payments for the completed Work will not 
constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor to correct defects at a 
later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any 
other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

a. The Contractor hereby warrants the Work for a period of one (1) year from 
the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct 
or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement at its sole expense to 
the reasonable satisfaction of the Authority.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in 
all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the 
Authority, its successors and assigns. 

b. Prior to final payment for any Services involving Work, and at any time 
thereafter but before the final inspection, as set forth below, the Contractor and the Authority shall, 
at the request of the Authority, conduct an inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining 
whether any Work is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The 
Contractor’s fees and costs associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit A and shall not be billed separately to the Authority.  In the event the 
Contractor neglects to include the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit A, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  
After completion of the inspection, the Authority will provide the Contractor with written notice 
of any Work requiring corrective action.  The Contractor agrees to correct or replace the defective 
Work within a reasonable time, as agreed to by the Parties, but in no event later than thirty (30) 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

14 

calendar days from the date of notice from the Authority, unless otherwise agreed to by the 
Authority. 

c. The Contractor agrees that if warranty issues appear before payment has 
been made under this Agreement, the Authority may withhold payment until such warranty issues 
are resolved to the Authority’s satisfaction.  If repair or replacement of any warranty or defective 
Work is not made by the Contractor promptly upon request by the Authority as set forth in this 
Agreement, in addition to any other remedy, the Authority may withhold any payment the 
Authority may owe to the Contractor, including payments under other contracts or agreements 
related or unrelated to the Work and Services. 

d. The Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of any Work, whether 
by the Contractor, its subcontractors or any third parties, which the Contractor believes to be 
defective or not conforming with this Agreement. 

e. The Contractor shall, at its expense, obtain all permits, licenses and other 
consents required from all governmental authorities, utility companies and appropriate parties 
under any restrictive covenants in connection with the Work.  The Contractor shall comply with 
all of the terms and conditions of all permits, licenses and consents. 

f. At or around eleven (11) months, but no more than one (1) year, after the 
completion and acceptance of the Work, the Contractor and the Authority shall, at the request of 
the Authority, conduct a final inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining whether any 
Work is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The Contractor’s fees 
and costs associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation schedule set forth 
in Exhibit A and shall not be billed separately to the Authority.  In the event the Contractor 
neglects to include the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation schedule 
set forth in Exhibit A, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  After 
completion of the final inspection, the Authority will provide the Contractor with written notice of 
any Work requiring corrective action.  In the event the Contractor does not correct or replace the 
defective Work within thirty (30) calendar days from the date of notice from the Authority, or 
within such other reasonable time as agreed to by the Parties, the Authority may correct or replace 
the defective Work and the Contractor shall reimburse the Authority for the related costs and fees.  

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 
 

15 

hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.]



 
 

Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Drainage and 
Stormwater Management Services with Bailey Land Solutions, LLC, dated April 15, 2021 

 
2303.4204; 1118014 16 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 



 
 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Drainage and 
Stormwater Management Services with Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community Authority, 

dated April 15, 2021 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 17 
 

CONTRACTOR: 
BAILEY LAND SOLUTIONS, LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________, 

2021, by __________________, as the _________________ of Bailey Land Solutions, LLC. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



719-659-3687   kaceybaileylandsolutions@gmail.com 
2682 Delta Dr          Colorado Springs, CO 80910 
 

 

01/01/2021 
 

 
Silt Fence: $1.95/lf   
 
Wire-backed, Reinforced Silt Fence (with T-posts): $3.75/lf 
 
9" Straw Wattles: $2.35/lf        
 
Dura-Wattles: $4.89/ft                            
 
Safety Fence (with T-posts): $3.75/lf 
 
Rock Sock / Cinderblock, Inlet Protection: $30/ft 
(example, 10' D-10-R = $300, 6' D-10-R = $180, 4'x4' area inlet = $480) 
 
Rock Sock Gutter Bags: $17/Rock Sock               
 
Sandbags: $4.50/each 
 
Straw Bales (with stakes): $20/each 
 
Native Seed and Erosion Control Blanket: $00.35/sq. ft. 
 
Drill seed / Hydro mulching: $00.18/sq. ft. 
 
Drill seed / Straw Crimping: $1775/acre 
 
3-Strand Barbed-wire Fence: $3.29/lf. 
 
Track Skid Loader w/ Operator:  $100.00/Hr. 
 
E-35 w/ Operator:  $125 /Hr. 
 
Skid w/Sweeper Attachment: $125/Hr. 
 
Walk Behind Sweeper: $79/Hr. 
 
Dump Trailer: $40/Hr. 
 
Labor: $40/Hr. 
 
Supervision: $85/Hr. 

 
Mobilization: $750/Mob 
(Outside of Metro Colorado Springs) 
 
 

Bailey Land Solutions, LLC 

Kacey Betts 

LAND SOLUTIONS, LLC 

mailto:baileylandsolutions@gmail.com


 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury and broad form property damage, 
and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant; and 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

5. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  



 
 

2303.4204; 1118014 D-1 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the 

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s Web site is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s Web site, http://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the certificate’s 
confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate is merely 

optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our Web site, http://

www.sos.state.co.us/ click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

Bailey Land Solutions, LLC

Limited Liability Company

20161001279

04/13/2021
04/14/2021 13:57:12

04/14/2021 13:57:12
13096887

01/01/2016



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 
 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
(PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES) 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 23rd day of March, 2021, by and 
between MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State of Colorado (the “Authority”), and 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The Authority 
and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the Authority was formed pursuant to the Mayberry, Colorado Springs 
Community Authority Establishment Agreement dated March 17, 2021 (the “Establishment 
Agreement”), in conformity with and subject to § 29-1-203.5, C.R.S., as amended, in its entirety, 
to provide certain functions, services or facilities permitted by the Constitution and laws of the 
State of Colorado and in accordance with the provisions of the Establishment Agreement; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the Authority; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the Authority is empowered to appoint, 
hire and retain agents, employees, engineers and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the Authority desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as 
are needed by the Authority to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

  TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the Authority, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services in El Paso County, Colorado; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of 
Services specified in said Exhibit A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any 
annoyance, interference or disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants and invitees within the 
Authority.  Exhibit A may take any form, including forms which may include price and payment 
terms.  In the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms 
set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 2 

no right or authority, express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, 
or otherwise obligate the Authority in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically 
provided in this Agreement (including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly 
delegated to or authorized by the Authority through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; (ii) 
completion of the Services; or (iii) December 31, 2021.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless 
terminated pursuant to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the Authority determines not to 
appropriate funds for this Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall 
automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The Authority may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the Authority 
pursuant to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the Authority 
and the Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional 
services shall not be given unless the Authority has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the 
additional compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this 
Section 3, the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any 
additional services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the Authority immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to Authority property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the Authority’s option, reimburse the Authority for the repair 
of any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the Authority of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the Authority the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the Authority or any agent of the Authority and not contained in this 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 3 

Agreement.  The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional 
experience and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance 
with the standards of care, skill and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform 
services of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals 
determine in writing that the Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, 
the Contractor shall, at the Authority’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard 
without additional compensation subject to Contractor’s right to later seek additional 
compensation if it disputes the determination of the professionals upon which the Authority has 
relied to direct Contractor to re-perform the Services.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the Authority of 
such a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as 
negotiated between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and shall be 
completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has and will continue to comply with all Laws 
while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county and local 
or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances and regulations; (ii) any licensing, bonding, 
and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use or disposal of hazardous wastes, 
substances or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances and/or similar directives regarding 
business permits, certificates and licenses; (v) regulations and orders affecting safety and health, 
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 1970; (vi) Wage and Hour 
laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws.    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant or employee of the Authority.  Review, acceptance or approval by the Authority of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the Authority, at 
the Authority’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the DSI proposal attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 4 

Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and 
shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A of 
this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
Authority in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the Authority of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
Authority with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the Authority to 
process payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable 
written service/work order. 

The Authority shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the Authority after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the Authority 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The Authority may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the Authority to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is 
not scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the Authority’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the Authority. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the Authority.  The Contractor shall have full power and 
authority to select the means, manner and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the Authority, and shall be responsible for supervising 
its own employees or subcontractors.  The Authority is concerned only with the results to be 
obtained.  The Authority shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 5 

coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, 
sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but 
not limited to: local, state or federal income or other tax contributions, insurance contributions 
(e.g. FICA taxes), workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional 
liability insurance, errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement 
account contributions, or any other form of taxes, benefits or insurance.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for its safety, and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and 
representatives.  All personnel furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-
contractors of the Contractor and will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of 
the Authority.  The Contractor is not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or 
unemployment insurance benefits, unless unemployment compensation coverage is provided 
by the Contractor or some other entity other than the Authority, and the Contractor is 
obligated to pay federal and state income taxes on moneys by it earned pursuant to this 
Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY / EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY.  This Agreement is 
subject to all applicable laws and executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-
discrimination in employment and the Contractor represents and warrants that it will not 
discriminate in its employment practices in violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

The Contractor hereby states that it does not knowingly employ or contract with 
illegal aliens and that the Contractor has participated in or has attempted to participate in the E-
Verify Program or Department Program (formerly known as the Basic Pilot Program) (as defined 
in §8-17.5-101, C.R.S.) in order to verify that it does not employ any illegal aliens.  The Contractor 
affirmatively makes the follow declarations: 

a. The Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with an illegal alien 
who will perform work under the public contract for services contemplated in this Agreement and 
will participate in the E-Verify Program or Department Program (as defined in §8-17.5-101, 
C.R.S.) in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for 
employment to perform work under the public contract for Services contemplated in this 
Agreement. 

b. The Contractor shall not knowingly enter into a contract with a 
subcontractor that fails to certify to the Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly 
employ or contract with an illegal alien to perform the services contemplated in this Agreement. 

c. The Contractor has confirmed the employment eligibility of all employees 
who are newly hired for employment to perform work under the public contract for services 
through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program. 

d. The Contractor is prohibited from using either the E-Verify Program or the 
Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while 
this Agreement is being performed.  



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 6 

e. If the Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing 
the services under this Agreement knowingly employs or contracts with an illegal alien, the 
Contractor shall be required to: 

i. Notify the subcontractor and the Authority within three (3) days that 
the Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with an 
illegal alien. 

ii. Terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within three (3) 
days of receiving the notice required above the subcontractor does not stop employing or 
contracting with the illegal alien; except that the Contractor shall not terminate the contract with 
the subcontractor if during such three (3) days the subcontractor provides information to establish 
that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with an illegal alien. 

f. The Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Department 
of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation involving matters under this 
Section 10 that such Department is undertaking pursuant to the authority established in § 8-17.5-
102, C.R.S.  

g. If the Contractor violates a provision of this Agreement pursuant to which 
§ 8-17.5-102, C.R.S., applies the Authority may terminate this Agreement upon three (3) days 
written notice to the Contractor.  If this Agreement is so terminated, the Contractor shall be liable 
for actual and consequential damages to the Authority. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the Authority, its directors, officers, employees and agents is required 
for Commercial General Liability and Workers Compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the Authority as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
Authority may carry, and any insurance maintained by the Authority shall be considered excess.  
The Authority shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the Authority with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the Authority and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the Authority to provide coverage 
in excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 7 

during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement; nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information identified on its face as confidential by 
the Authority and given to the Contractor by the Authority shall remain confidential.  In addition, 
the Contractor shall hold in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information 
which the Contractor becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the Authority 
has previously identified as confidential, or which the Authority has agreed to hold confidential 
and has advised Contractor in writing,.  Confidential information shall not include, however, any 
information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time provided to the Contractor; (ii) 
provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by confidentiality to the Authority; or 
(iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of the Authority’s confidential 
information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the Contractor is notified that certain 
information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor agrees to enter into a confidentiality 
agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the Authority and the Contractor.  The Contractor 
agrees that any of its employees, agents or subcontractors with access to any information 
designated thereunder in writing as confidential information of the Authority shall agree to be 
bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the Authority, the Contractor 
agrees to notify the Authority of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s 
provision of Services to the Authority.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the Authority under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of 
the invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the Authority’s 
request the Contractor will provide the Authority with all documents produced by or on behalf of 
the Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and 
reproducible copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period 
of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the Authority’s 
use and shall provide such copies to the Authority upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any Authority assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the Authority’s property or 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 8 

any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien waivers of 
all subcontractors, suppliers and materialmen, and waiver of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the Authority.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed, materials supplied or used 
by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by the 
Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the Authority 
and each of its directors, officers, employees, agents and consultants (collectively, the “Authority 
Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, 
damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and attorneys’ fees 
actually incurred, by the Authority Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, 
out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious act or 
omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the Authority Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the Authority or the negligence of any other Authority Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  
Except as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited 
in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation or benefits payable 
by or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts or other employee 
benefit acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or 
punitive damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the Authority of the existence of such 
Claim, the Authority may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and 
the Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the Authority.  Any attempted 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 9 

assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the Authority has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
Authority for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the Authority’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the 
failure of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any 
manner the Contractor’s duties, liabilities or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor 
shall not subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the Authority.  The Contractor 
agrees that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services 
under this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in 
this Agreement holding the Authority harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to 
commencing any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the 
Authority in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees 
that all such subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or 
penalty upon termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the 
date of any such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Authority and by the Authority by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  Such notice shall not be required for automatic expiration 
under Section 2, above.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid for all the 
Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should either Party 
to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or 
commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other Party, said 
other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under this 
Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with the 
Authority to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the Authority 
or its designees.  All time, fees and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the Authority.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, covenants 
and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this Agreement, 
the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the default, at the 
address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) days from and 
after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which can be cured 
within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the non-defaulting 
party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a cure, the 
defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default following the 
end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party is at all times 
within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any default under 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 10 

this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in addition to any 
other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and enforce the 
defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction or specific 
performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below: 

Authority: Mayberry, Colorado Springs Community 
Authority 
c/o Public Alliance, LLC 
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200 
Lakewood, CO 80226 
Attention: AJ Beckman, Authority Manager  
Phone: (303) 877-6284 
Email: aj@publicalliancellc.com  

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Jennifer Gruber Tanaka, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: jtanaka@wbapc.com  

  
Contractor: Development Services, Inc. 

PO Box 50822 
Colorado Springs, CO 80919 
Attention: Al Watson 
Phone: (719) 492-0310 
Email: al_dsi@hotmail.com 
 

21. AUDITS.  The Authority shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any 
of the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices for 
reimbursable expenses under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, and records) 

mailto:aj@publicalliancellc.com
mailto:jtanaka@wbapc.com
mailto:al_dsi@hotmail.com


 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 11 

and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such purposes during the 
term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of this Agreement and 
to make the same available to the Authority at all reasonable times and for so long thereafter as 
there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or 
representations not expressly set forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This 
Agreement may not be modified except by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the 
Authority.  

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the Authority is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the Authority shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and 
unless this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the Authority’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the Authority and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner, pandemic or failure of the Authority to furnish timely information or to 
approve or disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 12 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The Authority 
does not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial 
obligation whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the Authority’s 
obligations under this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this 
Agreement by the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in 
any ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall 
be construed or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the Authority, or as creating 
a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the 
Authority or statutory debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or 
Article XI, Section 6 of the Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement 
shall be construed to pledge or to create a lien on any class or source of Authority funds.  The 
Authority’s obligations under this Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, 
and shall remain subject to the same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the Authority, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Authority and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded 
or available to the Authority pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, 
et seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202 et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. STANDARD OF CARE.  In providing Services under this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall perform in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 13 

exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances at 
the same time. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The Authority is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the Authority is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the Authority.  The Authority shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a 
copy of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow.]



 
 

Authority’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Project Management 
Services with Development Services, Inc., dated March 23, 2021 

 
2303.4201; 1114665 14 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

AUTHORITY: 
MAYBERRY, COLORADO SPRINGS 
COMMUNITY AUTHORITY, a political 
subdivision and public corporation of the State 
of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the Authority 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the Authority 
 
 
  
 





 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 A-1 
 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

Contractor will provide the following Services:  
 
I. General:  

a. Provide project management services at the direction of the Board of Directors, 
including:  

i. Act on District’s behalf to reasonably expedite the completion of the project in 
a timely and cost-effective manner.  

ii. Review and analyze agreements, plans and contracts.  
iii. Monitor construction progress and activities.  
iv. Attend project meetings  
v. Provide monthly draws and project status reports.  

vi. Supervise interim and final certification and approvals by project engineers and 
government agencies.  

vii. Provide a single point of contact for all concerned parties.  
viii. Coordinate work schedules and project impact on community.  

 
II. Preconstruction Phase: 

a. Coordinate with design team.  
b. Develop preliminary budgets I schedules.  
c. Site visits as necessary.  
d. Coordinate with County agencies as necessary. Value engineering/ constructability 

plan review. Control and document scope changes.  
e. Prepare and present monthly report. 

i. Billed at hourly rate of $105.00 / hr. against contract amount.  
 
III. Bidding I Construction Phase: 

a. Solicit bids from qualified contractors.  
b. Facilitate execution of contracts.  
c. Oversee and monitor contractors, testing lab to maintain schedules and document QA. 
d. Regular site visits -document activity.  
e. Meet with property owners as necessary.  
f. Coordinate with County agencies as necessary.  
g. Review invoices to confirm accuracy based on observations of the work.  
h. Track costs relative to budgets / contract amounts.  
i. Control and document scope changes.  
j. Facilitate acceptance of public infrastructure  
k. Prepare and present monthly report.  
l. Coordinate project closeout. 

i. Billed monthly ........................... at 4% of Project Cost* 
 
*Project Cost is defined as the total cost for contractors, consultants, necessary for completion of 
the work. These costs are to be estimated in the preliminary budget and updated from time to time 
as the design progresses.



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 B-1-1 
 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 





 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 C- 1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned and hired 

automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

2. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

3. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $1,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665  

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 
  



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED

ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY
PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE
DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY

4/12/2021

Arthur J. Gallagher & Co.
Insurance Brokers of CA., Inc. License #0726293
18201 Von Karman Ave Suite 200
Irvine CA 92612

Select Client Service Team
833-391-6524 702-854-2444

Select_Certificates@ajg.com

Underwriters at Lloyd's, London 11230
DEVESER-02 United Specialty Insurance Company 12537

Development Services, Inc.
6550 Red Feather Drive
Colorado Springs CO 80919

33618082

B X 1,000,000
X 50,000

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000
X

DBRTM00155500 12/10/2020 12/10/2021

2,000,000

A Prof. Liab. ANE123764020 10/5/2020 10/5/2021 Each Claim
Aggregate
Deductible

$1,000,000
$1,000,000
$5,000

Proof of Insurance.

Mayberry Community Authority c/o Public Alliance LLC
Attn: AJ Beckman
355 S. Teller St., Suite 200
Lakewood CO 80226



DATE OF NOTICE:
CODE:

NOTE: PLEASE NOTIFY STATE FARM AT THE
ADDRESS LISTED AT THE TOP, LEFT CORNER
OF THIS PAGE REGARDING ANY CHANGE OF
ADDRESS INFORMATION.

NAMED INSURED:

STATE FARM

POLICY NO:
YR/MAKE/MODEL:
VIN/CAMPER:

COVERAGE:

POLICY MESSAGES:

12
10

00
.8

(o
1a

08
21

f)
06

-0
6-

20
14

®

FRT

FEB 24 2021
PO Box 853919
Richardson, TX 75085-3919

IP
PD

13
3 

95
53

06
00

10
41

FE
B 

23
 2

02
1

00
93

20
72

A

AAT1
001041 0093

72A
20

____

____

____

____

ADDITIONAL INSURED'S NOTICE OF COVERAGE
State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company

133 9553-E01-06I
DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, INC
6550 RED FEATHER DR
COLORADO SPGS CO 80919-1629 CONNIE SLATER INS AGENCY INC

(719)268-9003

2277-FBC2

2018 FORD PICKUP
1FTEW1EG2JKF76842

BI AND PD LIABILITY
$ 1 MIL
$500 DED. COMP.
$500 DED. COLL.

POLICY EFFECTIVE
JAN 26 2021 UNTIL TERMINATED

This policy shown above supersedes policy# 1339553-06H.
The policy includes a loss payable clause protecting the additional insured's interest in the described car to the extent of the insurance
provided and subject to all policy provisions. The additional insured will be given 10 days notice if the policy is terminated.Until such notice
is provided, it shall be presumed that the required renewal premiums have been paid.The additional insured must notify us within 10 days of
any change of interest or ownership coming to their attention.Failure to do so will render this policy null and void.

AGENT NAME:
AGENT PHONE:
ENDORSEMENT NO: 6028BT

-A

001041

01
01

-S
T-

-0
00

0



BCK2



 
 

2303.4201; 1114665 C- 2 

EXHIBIT D 
 

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING 
 
 
 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the 

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s Web site is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s Web site, http://www.sos.state.co.us/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the certificate’s 
confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate is merely 

optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our Web site, http://

www.sos.state.co.us/ click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES, INC.

Corporation

20041394143

04/06/2021
04/07/2021 18:41:34

04/07/2021 18:41:34
13081247

11/11/2004


	Agenda
	3.a. Minutes, April 8, 2021 CAB and District Nos. 1 - 8
	3.b. ICA, Centennial Land Surveying Services
	3.c. ICA, Kumar and Associates
	3.d ICA, Raw Land Detailing
	3.e. ICA Bailey Land Solutions
	3.f. ICA, Development Services Inc.

